No. 70140-1-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION ONE

BLAIR LA MOTHE, Appellant,

VS.

US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, AS TRUSTEE OF THE BANC OF AMERICA FUNDING 2007-D, ITS SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST AND/OR ASSIGNS,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON, THE HONORABLE JOAN DUBUQUE

OPENING BRIEF

GARY VICTOR DUBIN Pro Hac Vice SCOTT E. STAFNE, WSBA #6964 JOSHUA B. TRUMBULL, WSBA #40992 239 North Olympic Avenue Arlington, Washington 98223 Telephone: 360-403-8700

Telephone: 360-403-8700 Facsimile: 360-386-4005 Attorneys for Appellant Blair La Mothe

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The Judge of the Superior Court committed reversible error in not dismissing the underlying Amended Complaint because Respondent was not the real party in interest and lacked standing to seek a judicial foreclosure.

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Whether Respondent was the real party in interest and/or had standing to initiate the foreclosure and whether the Amended Complaint should have been dismissed.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

Appellant Blair La Mothe ("Appellant") is the rightful owner and superior titleholder of the subject real property located at 8115 Northeast 110th Place, Kirkland, Washington 98034. Appellant obtained a loan from his lender Wells Fargo Bank, National Association ("Wells Fargo") for seven hundred thousand dollars (\$700,000.00). Clerk's Papers Pages ("CP") 46 - 50. The loan is an "adjustable rate" note with a starting interest rate of 6.000%, scheduled to fluctuate throughout the life of the loan.

A Deed of Trust ("DOT") was recorded against Appellant's real property on November 18, 2005 in the King County, Washington

Auditor's File number 20051118002510, in the amount of seven hundred thousand dollars (\$700,000.00), naming Northwest Trustee Services, LLC as Trustee. CP 12 – 37. Wells Fargo is s identified on the note and DOT as the "Lender" as well as the beneficiary.

On June 20, 2006, a Boundary Line Adjustment was recorded in the King County, Washington Auditor's File as number 20060620900012. CP 52 - 53. In connection with said Boundary Line Adjustment, Prarit Garg and Kavita S. Garg (the "Gargs") conveyed and quit claimed to Appellant, the owner of Lot B, a four square feet portion of their adjoining lot, Lot C.

The Quitclaim Deed was recorded on October 3, 2006 in the King County, Washington Auditor's File number 20061003000996. CP 38 – 40.

On May 10, 2010, a Notice of Default was issued by Northwest Trustee Services Inc. (not the Trustee, Northwest Trustee Services, LLC) identifying Respondent US Bank National Association, as Trustee of the Banc of America Funding 2007-D ("Respondent") and Wells Fargo as beneficiaries. CP 225 – 227.

On May 25, 2010, an Assignment of Deed of Trust was recorded in the King County, Washington Auditor's File as number 20100525001201. CP 51. This alleged assignment purported to transfer the DOT from Wells Fargo to Respondent three years after the May 1, 2007 cut-off date and the May 31, 2007 closing date of the Banc of America Funding 2007-D trust, as further discussed below, and as indicated in the Pooling and Servicing Agreement identified as "Plaintiff's Exhibit 6" at trial. *See* Transcript of Trial February 13, 2013, Pages 39 and 40.

The Assignment was purportedly executed by Jeff Stenman as Assistant Vice President of Northwest Trustee Services, Inc., attorney in fact by power of attorney recorded 1/04/2010 under Auditor's File No. 20100104000781.

On that same day, Wells Fargo purportedly recorded a substitution of Trustee naming Northwest Trustee Services, Inc. as the new Trustee. CP 230. This substitution was purportedly executed by Anne Neely as Wells Fargo's Vice President of Loan Documentation, Attorney in Fact US Bank.

Respondent initiated a nonjudicial foreclosure, which it later canceled to resolve the boundary line issue, however, Appellant maintains he did not receive a notice of acceleration or of the nonjudicial foreclosure. CP 289 – 290.

B. Procedural History

Respondent filed a Complaint for deed of trust judicial foreclosure and declaratory relief on August 4, 2011, which Complaint was amended on August 11, 2011. CP 1 - 53.

Appellant filed his Answer and Affirmative Defenses to the Amended Complaint on August 2, 2012, as well as served Respondent with 18 Interrogatories and 25 Requests for Production of Documents. CP 84 – 90.

The interests of the Gargs were addressed by way of a Disclaimer of interest and Order of Dismissal filed on December 22, 2011. CP 112 – 117.

On January 14, 2013, Respondent filed a Motion to Shorten time, which was subsequently denied by the Superior Court. CP 118 – 123. Appellant filed his opposition thereto on January 15, 2013. CP 132 – 142.

On January 16, 2013, Appellant filed a Motion to Continue Trial, which was granted by the Superior Court on January 28, 2013. CP 146 – 151.

On that same day, Appellant filed a Motion to Compel and Motion to Strike Objections to Untimely Requests for Production due to Respondent's failure to respond to Appellant's Interrogatories and requests for document production which was granted by the Superior Court on January 16, 2013. CP 152 – 188.

On January 28, 2013, Appellant's oral motion to continue trial was granted. CP 239 – 241. A bench trial was held on February 13, 2013, the result of which Respondent was the prevailing party. CP 253 – 254. On

February 21, 2013, Respondent moved for entry of judgment and decree of foreclosure and order for sale as well as for award of attorneys fees and costs. CP 260 – 288.

A judgment, order and decree of foreclosure were entered on March 1, 2013 CP 341 – 346, 352 – 353. A judgment and order for an award of attorneys' fees and costs were entered on March 1, 2013 CP 347 – 351. A notice of appeal was filed on March 29, 2013. CP 356 – 375.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A Superior Court's conclusions of law are reviewed de novo.

Union Boom Co. v. Samish River Boom Co., 33 Wn. 144, 152-153 (1903).

V. ARGUMENT

The Judge of the Superior Court committed reversible error in not dismissing the underlying Amended Complaint because Respondent was not the real party in interest and lacked standing to seek a judicial foreclosure. Nearly identical to its federal counterpart, Washington Superior Court Civil Rules, CR 17(a) provides:

Every action shall be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest. An executor, administrator, guardian, bailee, trustee of an express trust, a party with whom or in whose name a contract has been made for the benefit of another, or a party authorized by statute may sue in his own name without joining with him the party for whose benefit the action is brought.

Wa. R. Super. Ct. Civ. CR 17 (emphasis added).

To maintain a cause of action, a "real party in interest" must show "that he has some real interest in the cause of action. 'His interest must be a present, substantial interest, as distinguished from a mere expectancy, or future, contingent interest, and he must show that he will be benefited by the relief granted." *State ex rel. Hays v. Wilson,* 17 Wn.2d 670, 672 (1943).

In the instant case, the record fails to establish that the original lender, Wells Fargo ever properly negotiated and transferred the subject note to Respondent, sufficient to create a present interest and ownership of the subject note and deed of trust owned and held by Wells Fargo. See e.g., Davis v. Bartz, 65 Wn. 395, 400 (1911) ("the only distinction between an owner and a mortgagee as a party to the lien foreclosure is that the owner is a necessary party to any valid foreclosure, while a mortgagee is a proper party. The only distinction, so far as here material, between a necessary party and a proper party is that a foreclosure of the lien without the one is absolutely void, while a foreclosure without the other is void only as to him"). Thus, Respondent's reliance upon the subject Assignment to create a chain of title between Wells Fargo and Respondent fails, and Respondent lacked standing to initiate a judicial foreclosure and sue herein. Without a complete chain of title supported by valid and enforceable transfers of the subject Note and Deed of Trust and

contractual rights thereunder, Respondent lacked standing to sue below, and accordingly the superior court committed reversible error in not dismissing the underlying Amended Complaint.

A. Respondent lacked actual and contractual authority to initiate the judicial foreclosure.

The record is unclear as to whether or not the subject note was ever properly negotiated and transferred to Respondent, and thus whether Respondent had standing to initiate a judicial foreclosure and sue herein. Respondent had absolutely no authority to accept any assignment after the Trust closed, even if it had such authority, there was never a valid assignment from the original lender, Wells Fargo to Respondent.

Under the common law, a person entitled to enforce a mortgage must also be the holder of the secured promissory note. As explained in the Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages) § 5.4:

§ 5.4 Transfer Of Mortgages And Obligations Secured By Mortgages

- (a) A transfer of an obligation secured by a mortgage also transfers the mortgage unless the parties to the transfer agree otherwise.
- (b) Except as otherwise required by the Uniform Commercial Code, a transfer of a mortgage also transfers the obligation the mortgage secures unless the parties to the transfer agree otherwise.

(c) A mortgage may be enforced only by, or in behalf of, a person who is entitled to enforce the obligation the mortgage secures.

Generally, possession of an indorsed promissory note, in compliance with the requirements of Article III of the Uniform Commercial Code (adopted in Washington as RCW Chapter 62A) is essential before an entity may conduct a foreclosure. However, there is no evidence in this record that Respondent was the holder of Appellant's note when it filed its complaint below. The disputed Assignment is wholly insufficient to establish this elemental fact. As the Supreme Court of Vermont explained in *U.S. Bank Nat. Ass'n v. Kimball*, 27 A.3d 1087 (Vt. 2011):

13. To foreclose a mortgage, a plaintiff must demonstrate that it has a right to enforce the note, and without such ownership, the plaintiff lacks standing. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Ford, 418 N.J.Super. 592, 15 A.3d 327, 329 (2011). While a plaintiff in a foreclosure should also have assignment of the mortgage, it is the note that is important because "[w]here a promissory note is secured by a mortgage, the mortgage is an incident to the note." Huntington v. McCarty, 174 Vt. 69, 70, 807 A.2d 950, 952 (2002). Because the note is a negotiable instrument, it is subject to the requirements of the UCC. Thus, U.S. Bank had the burden of demonstrating that it was a "[p]erson entitled to enforce" the note, by showing it was "(i) the holder of the instrument, (ii) a nonholder in possession of the instrument who has the rights of a holder, or (iii) a person not in possession of the instrument who is entitled to enforce the instrument." 9A V.S.A. § 3-301. On appeal, U.S. Bank asserts that it is entitled to enforce the note under the first category—as a holder of the instrument.

14. A person becomes the holder of an instrument when it is issued or later negotiated to that person. 9A V.S.A. § 3–201(a). Negotiation always requires a transfer of possession of the instrument. Id. § 3-201 cmt. When the instrument is made payable to bearer, it can be negotiated by transfer alone. Id. §§ 3–201(b), 3–205(a). If it is payable to order—that is, to an identified person—then negotiation is completed by transfer and endorsement of the instrument. Id. § 3-201(b). An instrument payable to order can become a bearer instrument if endorsed in blank. Id. § 3–205(b). Therefore, in this case, because the note was not issued to U.S. Bank, to be a holder, U.S. Bank was required to show that at the time the complaint was filed it possessed the original note either made payable to bearer with a blank endorsement or made payable to order with an endorsement specifically to U.S. Bank. See Bank of N.Y. v. Raftogianis, 418 N.J.Super. 323, 13 A.3d 435, 439-40 (2010) (reciting requirements for bank to demonstrate that it was holder of note at time complaint was filed).

15. U.S. Bank lacked standing because it has failed to demonstrate either requirement. Initially, U.S. Bank's suit was based solely on an assignment of the mortgage by MERS.

Id. at 1092.

The Ninth Circuit Bankruptcy Appellate Panel in *In re Veal*, 450 B.R. 897 (9th Cir. B.A.P. 2011), also carefully analyzed the doctrine of standing in the context of an alleged mortgagee. *Veal*, similar to the present case, involved an alleged mortgage loan holder's claim against a bankruptcy debtor's real property. In that case, the Bankruptcy Appellate Panel concluded that the alleged mortgage loan holder failed to establish its authority to foreclose, because it provided no evidence that it possessed

the promissory note, beyond a mere "assignment" of mortgage. The Court explained:

[U]nder the common law generally, the transfer of a mortgage without the transfer of the obligation it secures renders the mortgage ineffective and unenforceable in the hands of the transferee. Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgages) § 5.4 cmt. e (1997) ("in general a mortgage is unenforceable if it is held by one who has no right to enforce the secured obligation"). As stated in a leading real property treatise:

When a note is split from a deed of trust "the note becomes, as a practical matter, unsecured." Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgage) § 5.4 cmt. a (1997). Additionally, if the deed of trust was assigned without the note, then the assignee, "having no interest in the underlying debt or obligation, has a worthless piece of paper."

4 Richard R. Powell, Powell on Real Property, § 37.27[2] (2000). Cf. In re Foreclosure Cases, 521 F.Supp.2d 650, 653 (S.D.Ohio 2007) (finding that one who did not acquire the note which the mortgage secured is not entitled to enforce the lien of the mortgage); In re Mims, 438 B.R. 52, 56 (Bankr.S.D.N.Y.2010) ("Under New York law 'foreclosure of a mortgage may not be brought by one who has no title to it and absent transfer of the debt, the assignment of the mortgage is a nullity.'
") (quoting Kluge v. Fugazy, 145 A.D.2d 537, 536 N.Y.S.2d 92, 93 (N.Y.App.Div.1988)).

. . . .

This rule appears to be the common law rule. See, e.g., Restatement (Third) of Property (Mortgage) § 5.4 (1997); Carpenter v. Longan, 83 U.S. 271, 274–75, 16 Wall. 271, 21 L.Ed. 313 (1872) ("The note and mortgage are inseparable; the former as essential, the latter as an incident. An assignment of the

note carries the mortgage with it, while an assignment of the latter alone is a nullity."); Orman v. North Alabama Assets Co., 204 F. 289, 293 (N.D. Ala. 1913); Rockford Trust Co. v. Purtell, 183 Ark. 918, 39 S.W.2d 733 (1931). While we are aware that some states may have altered this rule by statute, that is not the case here.

As a result, to show a colorable claim against the Property, Wells Fargo had to show that it had some interest in the Note, either as a holder, as some other "person entitled to enforce," or that it was someone who held some ownership or other interest in the Note. See In re Hwang, 438 B.R. 661, 665 (C.D.Cal.2010) (finding that holder of note has real party in interest status). None of the exhibits attached to Wells Fargo's papers, however, establish its status as the holder, as a "person entitled to enforce," or as an entity with any ownership or other interest in the Note.

Not surprisingly, Wells Fargo disagrees. It argues that it submitted documents in support of its relief from stay motion which established a "colorable claim" against property of the estate. In this regard, it cites *In re Robbins*, 310 B.R. 626, 631 (9th Cir. BAP 2004) (which in turn cites *Grella*, 42 F.3d at 32). However, neither *Robbins* nor *Grella* dealt with a challenge to the movant's standing which, as we have said, is an independent threshold issue. Simply put, the colorable claim standard set forth in *Robbins* does not free Wells Fargo from the burden of establishing its status as a real party in interest allowing it to move for relief from stay, as this is the way in which Wells Fargo satisfies its prudential standing requirement.

In particular, because it did not show that it or its agent had actual possession of the Note, Wells Fargo could not establish that it was a holder of the Note, or a "person entitled to enforce" the Note. In addition, even if admissible, the final purported assignment of the Mortgage was insufficient under Article 9 to support a conclusion that Wells Fargo holds any interest, ownership

or otherwise, in the Note. Put another way, without any evidence tending to show it was a "person entitled to enforce" the Note, or that it has an interest in the Note, Wells Fargo has shown no right to enforce the Mortgage securing the Note. Without these rights, Wells Fargo cannot make the threshold showing of a colorable claim to the Property that would give it prudential standing to seek stay relief or to qualify as a real party in interest.

Accordingly, the bankruptcy court erred when it granted Wells Fargo's motion for relief from stay, and we must reverse that ruling.

Id. at 915-18 (footnotes omitted). See also, In re Weisband, 427 B.R. 13, *18 (Bkrtcy. D. Ariz. 2010) ("If GMAC is the holder of the Note, GMAC would be a party injured by the Debtor's failure to pay it, thereby satisfying the constitutional standing requirement. GMAC would also be the real party in interest under Fed.R.Civ.P. 17 because under Ariz.Rev.Stat. ("A.R.S.") § 47–3301, the holder of a note has the right to enforce it. However, as discussed below, GMAC did not prove it is the holder of the Note.").

Further, Respondent provided no evidence that a transfer of possession of the subject Note from the original lender, Wells Fargo to itself had ever occurred to entitle it to enforce the terms of the Note and Mortgage. The Note, which is a negotiable instrument governed under the Uniform Commercial Code, could not have been conveyed by any "assignment." Instead, said instrument had to have been negotiated in

compliance with the requirements of Article III of the Uniform Commercial Code, adopted in Washington as RCW Chapter 62A.

Pursuant to RCW 62A.3-203 governing negotiable instruments:

- (a) An instrument is transferred when it is delivered by a person other than its issuer for the purpose of giving to the person receiving delivery the right to enforce the instrument.
- (b) Transfer of an instrument, whether or not the transfer is a negotiation, vests in the transferee any right of the transferor to enforce the instrument, including any right as a holder in due course, but the transferee cannot acquire rights of a holder in due course by a transfer, directly or indirectly, from a holder in due course if the transferee engaged in fraud or illegality affecting the instrument.
- (c) Unless otherwise agreed, if an instrument is transferred for value and the transferee does not become a holder because of lack of indorsement by the transferor, the transferee has a specifically enforceable right to the unqualified indorsement of the transferor, but negotiation of the instrument does not occur until the indorsement is made.
- (d) If a transferor purports to transfer less than the entire instrument, negotiation of the instrument does not occur. The transferee obtains no rights under this Article and has only the rights of a partial assignee.

RCW 62A.3-203 (emphasis added.)

Respondent, who is otherwise a complete stranger to the subject note and mortgage, without presenting any evidence thereof, argued below that the subject mortgage loan was properly conveyed to it. Respondent's only recorded link to the original lender, Wells Fargo, is the recorded May 2010 Assignment of Mortgage purportedly transferring the interests of the subject Mortgage from Wells Fargo to Respondent. Respondent's relied upon Assignment of Mortgage alone, however, is insufficient to establish standing, as no interest in the debt is assigned without proper negotiation and transfer of the note. This is because a mortgage is but an incident to the debt which it is intended to secure and cannot exist independently.

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