No. 70140-1-I

DIVISION I, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Trustee of the Banc of America Funding 2007-D, its successors in interest and/or assigns

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

BLAIR LA MOTHE,

Defendant-Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Joan DuBuque)

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Ronald E. Beard, WSBA No. 24014 David C. Spellman, WSBA No. 15884 LANE POWELL PC Attorneys for Respondent U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee of the Banc of America Funding 2007-D, its successors in interest and/or assigns

LANE POWELL pc 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 P.O. Box 91302 Seattle, Washington 98111-9402 Telephone: (206) 223-7000

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

⁵⁷ Philip A. Trautman, <u>Joinder of Claims and Parties in Washington</u>, 14 Gonz. L. Rev. 103, 109 (1978).

⁵⁸ Sprague v. Sysco Corp., 97 Wn. App. 169, 171, 982 P.2d 1202 (1999) (citation omitted).

⁵⁹ See id.

⁶⁰ Sprague v. Sysco Corp., 97 Wn. App. 169, 171, 982 P.2d 1202 (1999) (citation omitted). <u>Id.</u> (reversing dismissal of a discrimination suit and holding the debtor could substitute the bankruptcy trustee as a real party in interest, as the employer would not be prejudiced by substitution, and the only change was to who would benefit from the action.)

interest, because she had declared bankruptcy, causing the bankruptcy estate to hold the right to prosecute the claim. 61

A Defendant May Waive Real-Party-In-Interest and Standing Defenses. Recently, in Trinity Universal Ins. Co., 62 this Court distinguished standing in our state courts from standing in federal courts. "In federal courts, a plaintiff's lack of standing deprives the court of subject matter jurisdiction, making it impossible to enter a judgment on the merits."63 Therefore, standing in federal court may not be waived, permitting a party to raise the lack of standing for the first time on appeal, because the lack of standing may deprive the court from having subject matter jurisdiction.

"By contrast, the Washington Constitution places few constraints on superior court jurisdiction. See Const. art. IV, § 6 ('The superior court shall also have original jurisdiction in all cases and of all proceedings in which jurisdiction shall not have been by law vested exclusively in some other court.") . . . "64 Standing is not a matter of subject matter jurisdiction

⁶² Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co., 176 Wn. App. 185, 312 P.3d 976, 984 (2013).

⁶³ Id.
64 Id.; see Riverview Cmty. Grp. v. Spencer & Livingston, 173 Wn. App. 568, 576, 295
The Hawaii where La Mothe's counsel practices, standing is a jurisdictional defense. See Mortg. Elec. Registration Sys., Inc. v. Wise, 130 Haw. 11, 304 P.3d 1192, 1196-1201 (Haw. 2013) (affirming foreclosure judgment) (La Mothe's counsel appearing for petitioner). Id. (stating under Hawaii law standing is a jurisdictional issue may be raised at any stage of the case but ruling a res judicata defense

in this state; standing merely prohibits a litigant from raising another's legal right.⁶⁵ Therefore, standing and real-party-in-interest are defenses that may be waived in our state court.⁶⁶

a. <u>La Mothe Failed to Preserve the New Civil Rule</u>

17(a) Real-Party-In-Interest Issue. Below, La Mothe argued that U.S.

Bank was the real party and a U.S. Bank employee should have appeared at trial instead of a Wells Fargo employee. Now on appeal, La Mothe raises for the first time a new real-party-in-interest issue: U.S. Bank "was not the real party in interest and lacked standing to seek a judicial foreclosure."

La Mothe failed to preserve this new issue below. Under RAP 2.5(a), "[t]he appellate court may refuse to review a claim of error which was not raised in the trial court, subject to several exceptions."

.

precluded the petitioner from pursuing the standing defense). However, a real party in interest may ratify the actions of another party under Hawaii law. <u>Citcorp Mortg., Inc. v. Bartolome</u>, 94 Haw. 422, 16 P.3d 827, 839 (Haw. Ct. App. 2000) (affirming deficiency judgment) (same counsel). <u>Id.</u> at 839 (alternative ruling that there was no jurisdictional problem with judgment, because even if Fannie Mae owned the loan and not the plaintiff in the foreclosure, Fannie Mae expressly ratified the sale, and a real party in interest may ratify commencement of an action under Rule 17(a)).

⁶⁵ Trinity, 312 P.3d at 984. See Berschauer Phillips Constr. Co. v. Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co., 175 Wn. App. 222, 226 n. 5, 308 P.3d 681 (2013) (citing Grant Cnty. Fire Protection Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake, 150 Wn.2d 791, 802, 83 P.3d 419 (2004) (construing standing under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act)).

⁶⁶ <u>See, e.g., State v. Cardenas</u>, 146 Wn.2d 400, 404–05, 47 P.3d 127 (2002) (waiver of standing); <u>Nw. Indep. Forest Mfrs. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.</u>, 78 Wn. App. 707, 716, 899 P.2d 6 (1995) (real party in interest); <u>Durland v. San Juan Cnty.</u>, 175 Wn. App. 316, 325, 305 P.3d 246 (2013) (standing).

⁶⁷ RP 108:24-109:15; 109:24-111:10. RP 110:18-20 ("kind of a technical argument"). ⁶⁸Opening Br. at 4.

⁶⁹ See Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc., 164 Wn.2d 432, 441, 191 P.3d 879 (2008) ("A party who fails to raise an issue at trial normally waives the right to raise that issue on appeal.").

The same policy applies to theories not presented below. By not raising the issue and related theories below, La Mothe deprived the trial court of the opportunity to correct the alleged errors, an opportunity that could have avoided an unnecessary appeal. While an appellate court retains the discretion to consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal, such discretion is rarely exercised."

This Court should decline to exercise that discretion in this case. La Mothe already has taken two bites of the apple regarding the real-party-in-interest defense. La Mothe waited until trial to raise one category of the defense. He first raised the defense based on a local rule. At the start of the trial, he referred to King County Local Civil Rule 4(i) requiring a party to appear on the trial date. He complained a Wells Fargo employee – not U.S. Bank employee – was appearing at trial. Later, during closing argument, La Mothe reframed the argument in terms of "a technical argument" under Civil Rule 17 that U.S. Bank (the real-party-in-interest) had not appeared. The "technical argument" was that Wells Fargo had

_

⁷⁰ <u>Doe v. Puget Sound Blood Ctr.</u>, 117 Wn.2d 772, 780, 819 P.2d 370 (1991); <u>Lindblad v. Boeing Co.</u>, 108 Wn. App. 198, 207, 31 P.3d 1 (2001) ("We will not review an issue, theory, argument, or claim of error not presented at the trial court level.").

⁷¹ Smith v. Shannon, 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983).

⁷² Karlberg v. Otten, 167 Wn. App. 522, 531–32, 280 P.3d 1123 (2012).

⁷³ RP 12:1-13:1 (opening argument raising the issue of who is the real party in interest in the context of whether Wells Fargo has authority to appear for plaintiff U.S. Bank).

⁷⁴ RP 22:16-27:21 (objecting to Brook's testimony as someone not with U.S. Bank but instead with Wells Fargo and has violated King County Local CR 4).

⁷⁵ RP 108:24-109:15; RP 109:24-111:10. RP 110:18-20 ("kind of a technical argument").

appeared and it was merely empowered with U.S. Bank's power of attorney that had been recently issued. In Judge DuBuque overruled this objection, ruling: "The correct party is in fact before the court in its capacity as the trustee and its successor in interest in the assignment of the deed of trust and promissory note."

The court later entered unchallenged Finding G, establishing that "[t]he correct party in interest was before the court on February 13, 2013, by and through Brock Wiggins, VP of Loan Documentation at Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., attorney in fact for Plaintiff." The substantial evidence supporting Finding G includes the power-of-attorney instrument (Exhibit 8), and Wiggins' testimony. In short, the record establishes that the court did not abuse its discretion in applying the local rule and Civil Rule 17. See Attachment A setting forth CR 17(a). Having raised two real-party-in-interest issues below, La Mothe is barred from raising a third, new real-party-in-interest issue on appeal.

b. <u>La Mothe Waived Any Real-Party-In-Interest</u>

Defense by Failing to Raise It in a Pretrial Motion. Even if this Court

.

⁷⁶ RP 108:24-109:15; RP 109:24-111:10; RP 110:18-20 ("kind of a technical argument"). ⁷⁷ RP 121:1-4.

⁷⁸ CP 366.

⁷⁹ RP 18:20-22:15 (Ex. 8 offered); RP 25:4-18; RP 27:15-24 (admitted); RP 15:4-23; RP 16:25-17:23, 67:18-68:9 (relying on the power of attorney and purchasing and servicing agreement for authority).

⁸⁰ Sprague v. Sysco Corp., 97 Wn. App. at 171 ("Decisions regarding application of civil rules are reviewed for an abuse of discretion.").

were to consider the new defense, this Court should affirm the judgment, because La Mothe waived the defense. A party waives a Civil Rule 17(a) defense by failing to act promptly on it in a pretrial motion. Generally, the real party in interest is "the person who, if successful, will be entitled to the fruits of the action." The purpose of Rule 17(a) is "simply to protect the defendant against a subsequent action by the party actually entitled to recover, and to insure generally that the judgment will have its proper effect as res judicata."

In <u>Beal v. City of Seattle</u>, our state supreme court acknowledged that CR 17(a) permits a plaintiff to amend a complaint to substitute the real party with the amendment relating back, where: (1) the defendant is not prejudiced; and (2) the only change wrought by the amendment is in

_

⁸¹ See Nw. Indep. Forest Mfrs. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 78 Wn. App. 707, 716, 899 P.2d 6 (1995) (If all such parties do not join in the same action, a defendant can object, but the defect will be waived in the event the defendant fails to act promptly.). See generally 4 James Wm. Moore, Moore's Federal Practice § 17.12[2][a] & n. 22 (3d ed. 2013) (section entitled "Untimely Objections Deemed Waived" and compiling decisions from eight federal circuit courts of appeal).

Sprague v. Sysco Corp., 97 Wn. App. at 171 (citation omitted). Id. at 172-80 (reversing dismissal of discrimination suit and holding debtor could substitute bankruptcy trustee as real party in interest, as employer would not be prejudiced by substitution, and only change was to who would benefit from the action.)

⁸³ Beal v. City of Seattle, 134 Wn.2d 769, 777, 954 P.2d 237 (1998) (quotation omitted). See Rinke v. Johns-Manville Corp., 47 Wn. App. 222, 227, 734 P.2d 533, review denied, 108 Wn.2d 1026 (1987). Id. (quoting Federal Advisory Committee Note to Fed. R. Civ. P. 17(a), 39 F.R.D. 85 (1966)). See also Sprague, 97 Wn. App. at 175 (purpose of this part of the rule is to help "expedite litigation by precluding technical or narrow constructions from interfering with the merits of legitimate controversies").

the representative capacity in which the action is brought.⁸⁴ <u>Beal</u> follows a well-established line of decisions reversing dismissals that had been granted under CR 17(a).

For example, in <u>Rinke</u>, this Court reversed the summary judgment dismissal of a personal injury and wrongful death suit. ⁸⁵ A widow had brought suit before she had been appointed as personal representative for her husband's estate. ⁸⁶ Four years after filing the complaint, the widow was appointed the estate's personal representative, and she ratified her prior actions. ⁸⁷ Reversing the dismissal, this Court stated: "The rule is not intended as a method by which the trial court may sanction dilatory plaintiffs; rather, it is meant to insure that the real party in interest will be made a party to the suit at the time when the interests of the defendants will be protected." This Court concluded:

Dismissal under [CR 17(a)] is appropriate only when the trial court has allowed the plaintiff a reasonable time to bring the real party in interest into the suit and joinder, substitution, and or ratification cannot be effected. In the present case, the purpose of the rule was fulfilled when Rinke became personal representative and ratified her previous action. At that time, the defendants were

⁸⁴ <u>See Beal v. City of Seattle</u>, 134 Wn.2d 769, 777, 954 P.2d 237 (1998) (reversing dismissal). <u>Id.</u> at 239 (holding amendment of complaint to change plaintiff's representative capacity from guardian ad litem of decedent's children to personal representative of estate related back to original filing).

⁸⁵ Rinke, 47 Wn. App. at 223-24.

⁸⁶ 47 Wn. App. 223-24.

Id.

⁸⁸ Id. at 226.

protected to the same extent as if Rinke had been personal representative from the inception of the suit."89

In this case, the judgment and court record protect La Mothe from a subsequent suit by another party. U.S. Bank produced the endorsed note, La Mothe inspected it before trial, and the original note was present at trial, when the court admitted a copy into evidence as Exhibit 1.90 The record confirms the complaint's allegation that U.S. Bank "is now the holder of the Note and current beneficiary of record under the Deed of Trust." While La Mothe's answer stated he lacked information to admit the allegation, he failed to pursue a defense that U.S. Bank was not the correct party and that someone else was entitled to enforce the note. During the eighteen months that elapsed between the filing of the suit and the trial, La Mothe never moved for dismissal. The well-established rule is that a defendant waives the defense by failing to raise it before trial. Raising the new defense on appeal prejudices U.S. Bank, 55 by

_

^{89 47} Wn. App. at 227-28.

⁹⁰ RP 28:7-32-32:25.

⁹¹ CP 5 ¶ 14.

⁹² CP 1-11 (Compl., Aug. 2011); CP 257-58 (Feb. 13, 2013 trial).

⁹³ CP 86; CP 88:14-89:14 (affirmative defenses). <u>See, e.g., Dennis v. Heggen,</u> 35 Wn. App. 432, 434, 667 P.2d 131 (1983) (granting 12(b)(6) dismissal on the basis of an assignment affecting real party status).

⁹⁴ See Nw. Indep. Forest Mfrs., 78 Wn. App. at 716 ("defect will be waived in the event the defendant fails to act promptly"). "Because requirements in the rule are for the benefit of the defendant, an objection should be raised with 'reasonable promptness;' if not, the general rule is that the objection is deemed waived." Plese-Graham, LLC v. Loshbaugh, 164 Wn. App. 530, 539, 269 P.3d 1038 (2011) (citing United HealthCare Corp. v. Am. Trade Ins. Co., 88 F.3d 563, 569 (8th Cir. 1996)). "The requirement of an objection followed by a reasonable time for the real party to respond, 'implies that the

depriving it of presenting additional evidence and responsive arguments below and scuttling the trial.

C. La Mothe Failed to Preserve the Lack-of-Standing Defense. La Mothe contends that the court "committed reversible error in not dismissing the Underlying Amended Complaint because Respondent ... lacked standing to seek a judicial foreclosure."96 But his brief violates RAP 10.3 by failing to reference any part of the record where he moved for dismissal on the basis of lack of standing. Compare Opening Brief at 7-24 (arguing lack of standing) with RAP 10.3(a)(6) (requiring an argument with "references to relevant parts of the record"). He never moved for dismissal on this basis. Also, he did not plead the lack of standing as an affirmative defense.⁹⁷

Shortly before the trial date, La Mothe moved to compel responses to his discovery seeking a certified copy of the note, 98 while also moving

defense may not be raised at any time, for the real party must have had the opportunity to step into the 'unreal' party's shoes and should not be prejudiced by undue delay." Plese-Graham, LLC, 164 Wn. App. at 538-390 (quoting Whelan v. Abell, 953 F.2d 663, 672 (D.C. Cir.), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 906, 113 S. Ct. 300, 121 L. Ed. 2d 223 (1992)). Whelan, 953 F.2d at 671-73 (ruling court abused discretion granting 17(a) defense at trial; the defense was raised on the first day of trial; the real party in interest was prejudiced, because it was too late to ratify). See generally 4 Moore's Federal Practice § 17.12[2][a] (3d ed. 2013).

95 <u>United States ex. rel. Reed v. Callahan</u>, 884 F.2d 1180, 1183 n. 4 (9th Cir. 1989) (party

waived defense when first raised on appeal).

⁹⁶ Opening Brief at 1 (assignment of error).

⁹⁷ CP 88-89.

⁹⁸ CP 152-88; CP 153 (moving on RFP 3).

for a trial continuance based the outstanding discovery. During the same period, La Mothe filed a trial brief containing the cursory statement that "Plaintiff lacks standing or authority to foreclose. ... The brief identifies as legal issue "A" that U.S. Bank failed to produce a certified copy of note in response to discovery and U.S. Bank had provided no proof that it possessed the note "before it initiated this foreclosure action pursuant to RCW 61.24.03." The trial court subsequently granted a continuance and required U.S. Bank to permit La Mothe "to inspect the original note by Tuesday, February 5," eight days before the new trial date. 102

At trial, a copy of the original note that La Mothe had inspected was admitted into evidence. The trial transcript does not mention the word "standing" except in the context that one attorney was "standing up." In contrast, during closing, La Mothe argued that U.S. Bank was the proper party. During closing, he never argued that U.S. Bank lacked standing. Washington courts have declined to consider standing when a

99 CP 146-50.

¹⁰⁰ CP 194:13-14.

¹⁰¹ CP 192

¹⁰² CP 140.

¹⁰³ RP 28-32, Ex. 2.

¹⁰⁴ RP 78:12.

¹⁰⁵ RP 94-124.

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